
 

This record is subject to correction. Corrections should be set forth in a memorandum and also 

incorporated in a copy of the record. They should be sent within one week of the date of the present 

record to the Documents Management Section (DMS-DCM@unog.ch). 

Any corrected records of the public meetings of the Committee at this session will be reissued for 

technical reasons after the end of the session.  

GE.17-09130  (E)    070617    120617 



Committee on Economic, Social and Cultural Rights 
Sixty-first session 

Summary record of the 18th meeting 

Held at the Palais Wilson, Geneva, on Thursday, 1 June 2017, at 3 p.m. 

Chair:  Ms. Bras Gomes 

Contents 

Consideration of reports 

(a) Reports submitted by States parties in accordance with articles 16 and 17 of the 

Covenant (continued) 

Sixth periodic report of the Netherlands 

 United Nations E/C.12/2017/SR.18 

 

Economic and Social Council Distr.: General 

12 June 2017 

 

Original: English 



E/C.12/2017/SR.18 

2 GE.17-09130 

The meeting was called to order at 3 p.m. 

  Consideration of reports 

  (a) Reports submitted by States parties in accordance with articles 16 and 17 of the 

 Covenant (continued) 

Sixth periodic report of the Netherlands (E/C.12/NLD/6; E/C.12/NLD/Q/6 and 

Add.1) 

1. At the invitation of the Chair, the delegation of the Netherlands took places at the 

Committee table. 

2. Ms. Mulder (Netherlands), introducing the sixth periodic report of the Netherlands 

(E/C.12/NLD/6), said that the country had undergone constitutional changes since 2010, as 

a result of the Netherlands Antilles had ceased to exist as a country. The Kingdom of the 

Netherlands therefore comprised four autonomous countries: the Netherlands, Aruba, 

Curaçao and Sint Maarten. Representatives of all four countries were present at the current 

meeting. The Covenant applied to all four and each country was independently responsible 

for implementing the Covenant at a national level. 

3. Speaking with regard to the situation in the Netherlands, she noted that the labour 

market had significantly recovered from the 2008 global financial crisis. As of April 2017, 

unemployment had fallen to 5.1 per cent, with the decrease particularly notable among 

older persons. However, unemployment among persons of migrant origin, especially young 

people, had not improved, owing to discrimination. An action plan against discrimination 

was currently being implemented to improve the situation for such people. The Government 

was also focusing on efforts to promote decent work by improving the rights of workers on 

temporary contracts. 

4. The Government was committed to increasing the economic independence of 

women. A number of projects had been launched to that end, encouraging women to 

increase their working hours. One in three top positions in central government were held by 

women, but the situation could be further improved. In cooperation with civil society, the 

Government was currently following up the concluding observations of the Committee on 

the Elimination of Discrimination against Women.  

5. The Netherlands was playing an active role in raising awareness among businesses 

of the importance of human rights. The Government had funded several initiatives in that 

regard, focusing on how to address the risks to human rights involved in conducting 

business. 

6. The Netherlands had seen an increase in health-care costs due to longer life 

expectancy and the increasing availability of new and effective medicines and treatments. 

The Government had reformed its curative and long-term care systems in order to maintain 

financial sustainability and quality of health care. The reforms to both systems aimed to 

concentrate on a more outcome-oriented approach in an effort to improve the quality of 

care and the quality of life of patients. 

7. Ms. Croes (Netherlands), speaking on behalf of the Government of Aruba, said that 

the purchasing power of its citizens had improved during the reporting period. Amendments 

to labour law had facilitated flexible working arrangements, strengthened the capacity of 

labour inspectorates and increased the minimum wage threefold. A special tax provision 

had been introduced to assist those in the lowest income bracket. The Government had also 

recently increased welfare provisions to support the most vulnerable sectors of society, 

including an allowance for parents on welfare with school-aged children, and offered a 

second chance at education for persons who had not completed their studies. Foundations 

that provided services to older persons and persons with disabilities, as well as orphanages 

and women’s shelters, were subsidized by the Government. Reforms had also been 

introduced to stabilize the social pension fund and to implement universal health coverage. 

8. Subsequent to the 2016 amendment to the Civil Code, civil partnerships between 

same-sex and heterosexual couples were legally recognized. Under the amendment, 

children born in wedlock were entitled to take the family name of either their mother or 



E/C.12/2017/SR.18 

GE.17-09130 3 

their father; corporal punishment in the home was prohibited; and a centre had been 

established where victims of child abuse could report violations and receive advice.  

9. The country’s reservation to article 8 (1) (d) of the Covenant regarding the right to 

strike had been withdrawn. Since 2014, industrial action was no longer prohibited under the 

Criminal Code. 

10. Ms. Martis (Netherlands), speaking on behalf of the Government of Curaçao, said 

that her country had consulted with a wide range of governmental and non-governmental 

organizations (NGOs) in its preparation for the State party report and the meeting with the 

Committee. A joint follow-up meeting to the dialogue was scheduled for June 2017.  

11. Efforts were being made to empower youth and reduce poverty in Curaçao. The 

National Youth Development Plan had been drawn up with the participation of various 

stakeholders. The Youth Council of Curaçao had also been recently established and it was 

working together with the Kingdom Youth Parliament to ensure that the interests of young 

people were taken into consideration in national policies. In order to reduce poverty, the 

Government had signed a workforce development agreement to modernize the national oil 

refinery that would create jobs for 4,500 workers. That, in turn, would lead to an expected 

10,000 jobs across the island, thereby contributing to a stronger economy. 

12. The Government provided free primary and secondary education for children living 

below the poverty threshold. Projects had been launched to prevent children from dropping 

out of school, aimed at both schools and parents. Free transport to school, food and clothing 

were also offered to disadvantaged children and there were currently 4,000 families 

receiving such subsidies. The “1,000 Young People in Employment” Project, which aimed 

to provide on-the-job training and a job guarantee to young people, continued to be 

implemented. The National Development Plan, drawn up with the help of the United 

Nations Development Programme, paid particular attention to the future of young people. 

In addition, a youth probation department had been set up to offer guidance to young first-

time offenders and the Government was working to establish a Children’s Ombudsman.  

13. Ms. Voges (Netherlands), speaking on behalf of Sint Maarten, said that her country 

had made considerable progress in reducing unemployment, particularly among young 

people, which demonstrated the success of initiatives such as the Labour Market Survey 

and policy plan. The Government had adjusted a number of policies to address the 

increasing life expectancy of its citizens, including changes to the pension system and 

social security provisions. An increase in the retirement age from 60 to 62 years had come 

into effect. An interministerial working group was continuing its efforts to develop a policy 

to combat poverty and various stakeholders were cooperating on the finalization of the 

National Development Plan, which would help to create an informed labour market and 

consolidate social security policy. 

14. Abortion remained illegal in Sint Maarten, but the Government would shortly host a 

conference at which it would present stakeholders with the final draft policy on changing 

the law in that regard. The Sexual and Reproductive Health Policy would define abortion as 

the medical termination of pregnancy, and a number of commitments would be made with 

regard to access to abortion services, counselling and aftercare. 

15. Sint Maarten had adopted a new Criminal Code in 2015 that had changed, in 

particular, the way that the Government addressed the issue of human trafficking. 

Following the recommendations received from a number of human rights treaty bodies 

regarding the lack of punishment for perpetrators, the new Code explicitly addressed human 

trafficking, the various forms of participation in the offence, the penalties and the 

aggravating circumstances, thereby ensuring that perpetrators at every level would be held 

accountable for the role that they played. The 2016 United States Trafficking in Persons 

Report had upgraded Sint Maarten from its Tier 2 Watch List to Tier 1, which meant that 

the country met the minimum standards required for the elimination of trafficking in 

persons.  

16. Ms. Shin (Country Rapporteur) said that she welcomed the fact that the State party 

had submitted a proposal to the Council of State to ratify the Optional Protocol to the 

Covenant and wondered when the final decision on ratification could be expected.  



E/C.12/2017/SR.18 

4 GE.17-09130 

17. She commended the establishment of the National Institute for Human Rights and 

the adoption of the National Action Plan on Human Rights. However, she was disappointed 

by the lack of concrete goals and strategies in the National Action Plan and wondered 

whether an evaluation of its effectiveness had been carried out. She would be grateful for 

more information on the status of the second National Action Plan, which she hoped would 

incorporate the recommendations contained in the concluding observations of the 

Committee and other United Nations treaty bodies.  

18. She remained concerned that the Covenant did not play a meaningful role in the 

legislative process of the State party. For example, social service reforms had improved the 

availability of care for vulnerable persons, but the Social Support Act contained no 

reference to the right to health or the general obligation to progressively implement the 

Covenant. Given that the provisions of the Covenant were generally not binding in the 

Netherlands, it was almost impossible to challenge a court decision on the grounds of those 

provisions. She asked what measures the Government would take to ensure that draft 

legislation and policy would be compatible with the Covenant and to raise awareness 

among the judiciary that the provisions of the Covenant could be directly applied. 

Moreover, she noted with dismay that the official development assistance (ODA) provided 

by the State party had continued to fall below 0.7 per cent of gross national income (GNI) 

since 2013 and invited the delegation to comment on whether the Government intended to 

return to its previous policy of maintaining ODA at 0.7 per cent of GNI. 

19. She was deeply concerned by the damage caused to water and food in Peru as a 

result of the business activities of the company Pluspetrol, which had its headquarters in 

Amsterdam. She was aware that the State party had adopted the National Action Plan on 

Business and Human Rights and would like to know whether there had been any follow-up 

procedures in that regard. She also asked whether human rights monitoring was in place to 

regulate the business activities of multinational corporations domiciled in the Netherlands.  

20. With reference to the disparities in the enjoyment of rights among the constituent 

countries of the Kingdom of the Netherlands, the Committee was unable to hold Aruba, 

Curaçao or Sint Maarten accountable to the Covenant, as they had not signed the Covenant 

as independent sovereign States.  

21. Although she understood the intention behind the decision to decentralize social 

services in an effort to bring services closer to those in need, the information that she had 

obtained suggested that there had been no clear assessment of the cost of decentralization 

and that services were not reaching the most needy. She would like to know whether the 

Government would be willing to consult with the people affected and with civil society in 

order to assess the failures in the system and to draft the necessary policy revision. 

22. Certain groups continued to experience discrimination in the Netherlands, including 

ethnic minorities of non-Dutch origin, migrants and persons with disabilities. In her view, 

human rights education was inadequate in the State party and she wondered whether the 

Government intended to educate civil servants, the judiciary, law enforcement officials and 

rights holders on the rights contained in the Covenant. Citizenship lessons in schools should 

also include education on human rights.  

23. There was a notable difference between men and women in terms of work, income, 

decision-making and family responsibilities. She was particularly struck by the fact that 77 

per cent of working women in the State party worked parttime. Stereotyping of gender roles 

lay at the root cause of such inequality and the Government had not provided a response to 

the question posed by the Committee on measures taken to combat stereotypes. She would 

appreciate clarification on how many workers, and how many men, in particular, had made 

use of the Flexible Working Arrangements Act, why paternity leave was currently limited 

to only two days and how many families had benefited from extended childcare assistance.  

24. Ms. Mulder (Netherlands) said that a response had been received from the Council 

of State regarding the ratification of the Optional Protocol and that the Government was in 

the process of studying it. The ultimate decision would lie with the new government, which 

was yet to be established following the recent general election.  



E/C.12/2017/SR.18 

GE.17-09130 5 

25. An internal evaluation of the National Institute for Human Rights had been carried 

out in 2016. The University of Utrecht would also carry out an independent evaluation. A 

midterm report on the implementation of the measures contained in the National Action 

Plan on Human Rights had been produced in 2014. The parliament had also debated the 

strengths and weaknesses of the National Action Plan and a Council of Europe workshop 

on the issue was scheduled for 2017. 

26. Although no specific reference to the Covenant had been made in the Social Support 

Act, the policies contained therein were inspired by the Covenant. The Government should 

be more explicit about its use of the Covenant in policy development. Moreover, an 

individual was entitled to appeal against a court decision on the grounds that his or her 

rights under the Covenant were not respected. In such cases, international law, namely the 

Covenant, could take precedence over domestic law.  

27. Civil servants had been provided with human rights guidelines and a checklist on the 

international treaties to which the Netherlands was a party, such as the International 

Covenant on Civil and Political Rights and the International Covenant on Economic, Social 

and Cultural Rights. Human rights training was offered to the judiciary and the police and 

immigration services with a view to ensuring that every public policy directorate had a 

basic knowledge of human rights.  

28. In 2016, ODA had been 0.65 per cent of GNI, which meant that the Netherlands 

remained among the top seven international donors globally. The new government, when it 

was formed, would consider whether or not to work towards maintaining ODA at 0.7 per 

cent of GNI. 

29. The Government had established the National Action Plan on Business and Human 

Rights. In the event that a Dutch company was alleged to have violated human rights, the 

Government would enter into a dialogue with the business in order to establish the facts. 

Legal action could be taken in such cases, although a number of factors needed to be taken 

into consideration, including the national law of the country in which business operations 

were being conducted, the legal standing of the business concerned and the availability of 

evidence. The Government had been in contact with Pluspetrol in that connection. 

30. The four countries that comprised the Kingdom of the Netherlands enjoyed equal 

status and international treaty obligations were binding on the Kingdom as a whole. The 

four countries were autonomous in their implementation of the Covenant. Regular meetings 

were held between the constituent countries in that regard. 

31. The attempted decentralization of social services had given rise to a number of 

conflicting perspectives regarding the way that such services were provided. Municipalities 

needed more freedom in order to assist the most vulnerable sectors of society. The 

Government was consulting with municipalities and civil society in order to improve the 

provision of services. 

32. The recent elections in the Netherlands had demonstrated the lack of social cohesion 

in the country. Efforts were being made to combat discrimination through the establishment 

of a national action plan, with a focus on eliminating racist sentiments. The action plan 

aimed to target the problem of unconscious bias, improve cooperation among the police and 

local communities, increase awareness of the issue among the general public through 

handbooks and guidelines, and invest in research. The Dutch Inspectorate of Education had 

reported that citizenship education in schools needed to be improved. The Government was 

committed to identifying best practices from other countries in order to improve the 

situation. Changes to the national curriculum for primary and secondary education were 

currently under way, with a view to giving greater prominence to the issue of human rights. 

33. She agreed that the Government needed to tackle the issue of gender stereotyping, 

particular with regard to childcare. In the Netherlands, it was frowned upon to send a child 

to day care more than three days a week, but studies had shown that day care had a 

particularly positive impact on children from vulnerable population groups. On average, 

men in the Netherlands worked 37.7 hours per week. Parental leave was available for both 

men and women but was unpaid. The Flexible Working Arrangements Act aimed to assist 

parents, particularly mothers, in combining work and childcare. Studies had indicated that, 



E/C.12/2017/SR.18 

6 GE.17-09130 

if women did not significantly decrease the number of hours that they worked following the 

birth of their child, there was a higher probability that they would maintain regular working 

hours in the long term, thereby ensuring their economic independence.  

34. The delegation had consulted with NGOs prior to the meeting with the Committee. 

The Government valued the perspective of its citizens and civil society and was committed 

to consultation with them for the purposes of policy development.  

35. Ms. Croes (Netherlands) said that Aruba was taking steps to draft a national action 

plan on human rights based on the periodic reports submitted to United Nations treaty 

bodies, the recommendations arising from them and consultations with NGOs. Priorities for 

the action plan included raising awareness on human rights, research and data collection, 

and ratifying international conventions. The draft action plan was expected to be completed 

by the end of 2017 and would subsequently be sent to the Council of Ministers for approval. 

36. A national action plan for youth had recently been approved and would focus on the 

core objectives of youth-oriented policies. An action plan to combat child abuse and a 

gender policy plan were currently being drafted. Consultations had been held with a 

number of stakeholders on the issue of gender equality in order to combat violence against 

women, improve women’s participation in public life and empower women.  

37. Ms. Martis (Netherlands) said that Curaçao had neither a national institute for 

human rights nor a national action plan on human rights. However, the National 

Development Plan contained references to human rights, such as education and gender 

equality. The Government and civil society were cooperating to develop a national action 

plan on human rights. 

38. Ms. Voges (Netherlands) said that, although there were as yet no plans to draft a 

national action plan on human rights in Sint Maarten, there was an awareness of the 

importance of human rights at a national level. A 2015 workshop had been held on 

developing frameworks for action plans on human rights. An interministerial working 

group had been set up to establish a list of priorities on human rights that could be used as 

the basis for a future draft action plan. 

39. Mr. Sadi said that the status of the Covenant under the law of the State party was 

ambiguous. It did not suffice to say that fulfilling the provisions of the Covenant was a goal, 

as the State party had done in a Supreme Court judgment of 1993, because, in accordance 

with the general comments and the jurisprudence of the Committee, certain provisions 

needed to take effect immediately. He encouraged the delegation to provide a clear 

response in that regard. He was also concerned about the strong anti-Muslim sentiment 

growing in the State party. He wished to know what the root cause of the problem was and 

how the Government intended to reduce such tensions. 

40. Mr. Uprimny said that, since 1986, the Limburg Principles on the Implementation 

of the International Covenant on Economic, Social and Cultural Rights and the Maastricht 

Guidelines on Violations of Economic, Social and Cultural Rights had stipulated that the 

obligations under the Covenant were to be directly applied. However, the Netherlands 

maintained that the provisions of the Covenant were of a non-binding nature. He asked 

whether the Government intended to change its position on the applicability of the 

Covenant in its courts. 

41. The Chair said that economic, social and cultural rights were not mere aspirations. 

The failure to recognize them as rights under the current circumstances had led to the 

erosion of social policies and social unrest in a number of countries.  

42. Ms. Shin said that the Netherlands had been recognized in the past as one of the few 

States that had achieved the 0.7 per cent target for ODA. As the Government unfortunately 

no longer met that target, she urged it to restore the State party’s ODA status.  

43. It was unclear whether the State party was waiting for employees of the Pluspetrol 

company in Peru or persons affected by contamination to file a lawsuit before taking action 

against the company, which was guilty of serious human rights violations. She asked 

whether business monitoring procedures had been established with a view to promoting 



E/C.12/2017/SR.18 

GE.17-09130 7 

remedies and compensation for victims. She also wished to know whether provision had 

been made for human rights impact assessments of ODA projects. 

44. Ms. Mulder (Netherlands) said that most provisions of the Covenant were not 

directly applicable, since they provided only general instructions of a programmatic nature 

to the Governments of States parties. The activities of the Dutch Government were 

implicitly designed to implement the provisions of the Covenant.  

45. Equal pay was enshrined in Dutch law, but it was sometimes difficult to establish 

whether it existed in practice.  

46. Tensions between different groups were not simply attributable to discrimination by 

long-standing residents against newcomers or Muslims. Homosexuals were also assaulted 

from time to time by people with different religious views. The approach to anti-Muslim 

discrimination focused on promoting research and willingness to report incidents among 

local communities. Such incidents were now recorded by anti-discrimination bureaux and 

the police. 

47. More young people were unfortunately becoming involved in Salafism, which 

promoted extremist views opposed to the liberal values espoused in the Netherlands. 

Institutions in local communities sought to identify young people with extremist or racist 

views, but action to address the phenomenon presented a major challenge. The Netherlands 

would welcome any advice the Committee that could provide regarding a sound solution. 

The Government was considering the possibility of developing a social cohesion 

framework aimed at alleviating tensions in society.  

48. She did not believe that social rights and policies had been eroded. Admittedly, 

however, the authorities were struggling to develop social policies that effectively 

addressed existing tensions in society and provided support for vulnerable groups. 

Countries that were doing well economically and had generous social welfare systems 

attracted the largest number of migrants and asylum seekers, and it was difficult for long-

term beneficiaries of social welfare to accept that immigrants with different values enjoyed 

the same rights. 

49. The Netherlands was still one of the most prominent providers of ODA, focusing on 

areas such as water management, food security, and sexual and reproductive health. To be 

eligible for support, companies were required to meet corporate social responsibility criteria 

based on the Guidelines for Multinational Enterprises of the Organization for Economic 

Cooperation and Development (OECD). 

50. Mr. Bette (Netherlands) said that the Dutch Embassy in Lima was investigating the 

Pluspetrol case in order to determine how it should be addressed. There was no legislation 

governing the extraterritorial conduct of multinational enterprises, but there was an active 

and efficient national contact point on the OECD Guidelines. Alleged violations of the 

Guidelines could be reported and many solutions had been found, usually through 

mediation. 

51. The Chair, responding to the request for advice on social cohesion and on problems 

stemming from migration in a welfare State, said that the Committee was not an academic 

body. Its mandate was confined to the monitoring of States parties, but its general 

comments and statements on the provisions of the Covenant could prove useful. The Office 

of the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights had issued documents, which 

could be consulted on its website, concerning the importance of economic, social and 

cultural rights in sustaining peace and avoiding conflict and also in post-conflict situations. 

52. Mr. De Schutter said that European Union Regulation No. 1215/2012 required the 

Dutch courts to receive claims filed by victims of misconduct on the part of companies 

registered in the Netherlands. He wished to know what practical obstacles were faced by 

victims who wished to resort to that remedy. The conclusions on business and human rights 

adopted by the Council of the European Union on 30 June 2016 instructed member States 

to review any obstacles that prevented victims from having access to remedies. He asked 

what action was being taken by the State party to remove the obstacles that it had identified. 



E/C.12/2017/SR.18 

8 GE.17-09130 

53. Mr. Kedzia (Task Force Member) said that the data contained in the annex to the 

State party’s report reflected the situation until 2013. He would be grateful for updated data, 

particularly regarding the employment situation, and an explanation of the notion of 

“Western immigrant background”. The unemployment rate among ethnic minorities was far 

higher than among ethnic Dutch and the situation was even worse for non-Western 

immigrants. In its reply to the question in the list of issues regarding the impact of measures 

under the 2013 Integration Agenda to combat discrimination against ethnic minorities in the 

labour market, the State party had stated that it was unable to provide systematic evidence 

of the impact. Although, it had referred, to a large-scale study of discrimination against 

ethnic minorities, it had failed to mention the findings or follow-up. 

54. He wished to know more about the factors that had led to the encouraging increase 

in the participation of women in the labour market, especially women in the 55- to 65-year 

age group. The participation of non-Western immigrant women in the labour market had 

also improved, but the rate for immigrants from Turkey and Morocco continued to be 

relatively low. Moreover, the pay gap for women had decreased by a large percentage 

between 2008 and 2014 in the public sector but by a far smaller percentage in the private 

sector. He asked what measures were being taken to address both those issues. He also 

wished to know whether the Minister of Education, Culture and Science had informed the 

parliament of the results achieved by the equal opportunities policy in recent years and 

whether the Government intended to reintroduce an annual equal pay day. 

55. He commended the results achieved by the Participation Act and the Jobs Deal and 

Work-Disabled Persons Quota Act (“Jobs Deal Act”). However, not all persons with 

disabilities were covered by the Jobs Deal Act. He asked whether the selective coverage 

had an adverse impact on the access to employment of persons who were not covered and 

what the response of employers had been.  

56. As migrant workers were reportedly highly dependent on recruitment agencies and 

vulnerable to exploitation, labour inspections might prove crucial in preventing abuse. 

However, as the inspectors controlled not only working conditions but also compliance 

with migration legislation and related fraud, migrant workers might be discouraged from 

reporting unacceptable working conditions and labour exploitation. He asked whether the 

Government would consider revising its approach in order to protect possible victims. In 

general, he asked what measures were being taken to ensure better protection for victims of 

labour exploitation. 

57. The decentralization of the delivery of social services was an interesting approach 

that could provide important lessons regarding innovative practices and might perhaps help 

to address the issue of non-uptake of social assistance by vulnerable groups. However, the 

State party’s reply to paragraph 15 of the list of issues concerning the qualifying criteria in 

the Social Benefit Act and other legislation was inadequate. Some current provisions of the 

Social Benefit Act were reportedly so rigid that it was impossible for the municipalities to 

compensate for the decline in the income of families in need, owing to the new rules. The 

families were allegedly unable to meet the costs of rent, health care, food or clothing. Some 

municipalities were also reportedly unable to provide necessary care to vulnerable people, 

especially older persons, persons with disabilities and families that required care. He asked 

whether the municipalities were equipped with the necessary human rights knowledge and 

experience, whether the observance of economic, social and cultural rights was monitored 

by the Government and whether steps had been taken to raise human rights awareness at the 

local level among civil servants and the general public in the context of the decentralization 

of the delivery of social services.  

58. Lastly, he would welcome information regarding the interim results of the series of 

assessments of the experience of stakeholders with respect to the implementation of the 

Participation Act. 

The meeting was suspended at 5.05 p.m. and resumed at 5.15 p.m. 

59. Ms. Mulder (Netherlands) said that in recent years the Government had supported 

projects to increase women’s economic independence in conjunction with the 

municipalities. Awareness-raising campaigns and inspirational local events for women had 

been organized. Multiparty agreements had been concluded between local authorities, 



E/C.12/2017/SR.18 

GE.17-09130 9 

women’s organizations, educational facilities and employers’ welfare organizations. 

Training courses had been provided for women with little training or work experience. 

Single mothers had been assisted in creating a mutual support network. Mentoring had been 

provided for victims of abuse. During the current year, municipalities were being 

encouraged to promote the economic independence of women in their area and could apply 

for financial support to cover over 50 per cent of such projects. The percentage of 

economically independent women had increased from 47.5 per cent in 2010 to 54 per cent 

in 2015. 

60. The Government also supported women’s economic independence through childcare 

allowances, enhancement of the quality of childcare and the Flexible Working 

Arrangements Act. Combined fiscal deductions stimulated secondary earners within 

households, who were usually women, to maintain or increase their working hours after 

childbirth. The policies were also designed to combat gender stereotyping in relation to the 

raising of children. 

61. Measures to bridge the persistent gender pay gap included awareness-raising 

campaigns, the Action Plan on Discrimination in the Labour Market, websites, annual 

progress reports, the creation of an employment discrimination team in the Inspectorate of 

the Ministry of Social Affairs and Employment, and research on equal pay in vocational 

education and the insurance industry. The Government also commissioned regular research 

by Statistics Netherlands on the gender pay gap. 

62. A law enacted in 1996 prohibited unequal treatment, including with regard to hourly 

pay, for full-time and part-time employees. The Federation Dutch Labour Movement was 

organizing an equal pay day on 3 November 2017, with the support of various women’s 

organizations. A major campaign against discrimination in the labour market had been 

launched in 2015. The campaign material, including a toolkit for employers to organize 

recruitment in a manner that minimized prejudice, was available on the website. Pay 

differences were monitored by Statistics Netherlands and the results were published, 

transmitted to the parliament and shared on websites. 

63. Various instruments had been implemented to stimulate active inclusion and equal 

treatment of persons with disabilities. The groups covered by the Jobs Deal Act were 

deemed to be the most vulnerable. Other groups with disabilities were covered by the 

Participation Act, which was applicable to the municipalities. Compliance with all legal 

instruments was monitored in coordination with stakeholders. 

64. The Inspectorate of the Ministry of Social Affairs and Employment had formalized a 

new programme to tackle human trafficking for labour exploitation. One of the priorities 

was the adoption of a more proactive approach to inspections and criminal investigations. 

Steps would be taken to promote a cooperative attitude on the part of stakeholders and to 

generate public awareness. Victims who reported trafficking were not prosecuted but 

offered protection as witnesses. Persons who were illegally employed or in unsafe labour 

situations were highly vulnerable, since their employers threatened retaliatory action if they 

approached the authorities. 

65. Municipalities had received assistance in complying with obligations stemming 

from the decentralization of the delivery of social services under the Municipalities of the 

Future programme. Dissatisfied citizens could file lawsuits or appeal to various bodies if 

they felt that they had been subjected to gender-based discrimination. Municipalities 

sometimes found it difficult to comply with the differing requirements of the regulations 

issued by different ministries and to deal with diverse income components. In the event of 

administrative errors, they were required to pay refunds to the Government. Measures had 

been taken to facilitate action to address family debt situations and to simplify the system in 

general. Considerable effort was invested in familiarizing municipalities with a broad range 

of regulations. Master classes had been organized and the central Government planned to 

simplify some of the legislation, taking in the needs of the general public. 

66. The situation of Turkish and Moroccan women in the labour market was quite 

complex. Awareness-raising was required to address the negative impact of stereotyping 

and unconscious prejudice. The Labour Foundation had launched a Diversity Charter on 2 

July 2015, which had already been signed by more than 80 public and private organizations.  



E/C.12/2017/SR.18 

10 GE.17-09130 

67. With a view to protecting households from living in poverty, the Netherlands had 

developed a comprehensive social system with adequate services and income support. In 

theory, nobody was denied access to social assistance. In practice, however, the 

mechanisms proved insufficient in certain circumstances. When the municipalities were 

required to provide special assistance, they sometimes pleaded for more support in complex 

cases involving a combination of factors that required innovative solutions. 

68. Mr. Slaats (Netherlands) said that, as part of the ongoing review of Dutch civil law 

concerning evidence and civil procedures, the Netherlands was seeking ways of facilitating 

access to evidence that would be beneficial to victims of business-related violations of 

human rights. It was also amending the law to allow victims to claim damages collectively. 

69. Mr. Windfuhr said that he would be interested to know about problems detected 

during the State party’s regular labour inspections, for instance under the Tackling Fake 

Firms Act, which focused on the construction and transport sectors. He would also like 

information about the number of illegal workers employed in agriculture and other areas. 

He asked why the State party had not ratified the International Labour Organization (ILO) 

Domestic Workers Convention, 2011 (No. 189). 

70. According to the State party’s report, the Work and Social Assistance Act had been 

amended in 2012 and 2015 to emphasize that social assistance was the final safety net and 

he asked what the amendment contained. In particular, he wished to know why young 

people were unable to apply for benefits for four weeks after submitting an application. He 

asked whether decentralization had affected the ability of municipalities to pay the requisite 

benefits, particularly in relation to disability services. 

71. Lastly, he asked whether children of undocumented migrants had access to social 

welfare systems. 

72. Mr. Abdel-Moneim noted that the Netherlands had entered a reservation to article 8 

(1) (d) concerning the right to strike, stating that it did not accept the provision in the case 

of the central and local government bodies of the Netherlands Antilles, but it had added that 

it was not certain whether the reservation was necessary. He therefore asked why the 

reservation had been entered. 

73. According to paragraph 69 of the report, trade union membership had fallen from 

1,870,000 to 1,734,000 between 2010 and 2015. He wondered what were the reasons for 

the decline. He was rather surprised by the State party’s comment in the same paragraph 

that an average of 20 strikes per year was low.  

74. According to paragraph 68, the right to strike was based on article 6 (4) of the 

European Social Charter and restricted by article 31 of the Charter. He asked whether the 

right to strike under the Covenant was deemed to have the same status. In addition, the right 

to strike was, according to the State party, based on case law and the Government did not 

intend to change it. He stressed that case law was not always an adequate source.  

75. Mr. De Schutter said that, according to paragraph 130 of the report, the Social 

Support Act required the municipalities to provide support for the homeless. He would 

welcome information on the procedures for preventing municipalities from declining 

responsibility for certain homeless persons and the safeguards in place to prevent the most 

generous municipalities from becoming magnets for homeless persons and hence deciding 

to reduce their support.  

76. He asked how social aid was delivered to homeless persons who had no address. 

77. Ms. Liebenberg (Task Force Member) noted the existence of unacceptably high 

levels of gender-based violence and violence against children in the Caribbean part of the 

Netherlands. The annex to the report indicated that the available data were inadequate. She 

noted with concern that little progress had been achieved since the previous report.  

78. She noted that action by the “Safe at Home” centres to tackle domestic violence and 

child abuse had been devolved to the municipalities. The Committee had been informed 

that there were long waiting lists for such centres, and also for youth care centres, and she 

asked what support was provided at the national level to boost the capacity of 

municipalities to deliver such services. 



E/C.12/2017/SR.18 

GE.17-09130 11 

79. She had not fully understood the reply to the question as to whether parental leave 

was paid in all cases or only when a collective agreement had been reached in the 

workplace. 

80. She gathered that there had been some degree of stabilization in levels of short-term 

poverty since the financial crisis. However, according to Statistics Netherlands, there had 

been a rise in the number of people at risk of long-term poverty. She wished to know what 

strategy the State party had adopted to address the problem and what targets it had set. She 

also wished to know whether NGOs and civil society groups were involved in the plan of 

action to eliminate long-term poverty. 

81. The Committee was particularly concerned about levels of poverty in the Caribbean 

Netherlands and in Curaçao, Aruba and Sint Maarten. She would be grateful for 

information on progress in developing national poverty lines and comprehensive poverty 

alleviation programmes. 

82. With regard to the State party’s core obligations in respect of undocumented 

migrants, she quoted the Committee’s statement at its previous session that the essential 

minimum content of each right should be preserved in all circumstances and that the 

corresponding duties extended to all people under the State’s effective control, without 

exception. She understood that access to shelter and related services for undocumented 

migrants depended on the migrants’ making a genuine effort to arrange their departure, so 

that, when municipalities provided additional facilities or shelters, there was an express 

intention to penalize the municipalities concerned. She asked the State party to comment on 

the compatibility of the conditional provision of core social services with the unconditional 

core obligations to all people within the State’s jurisdiction, regardless of legal status. 

83. There had been a major increase in homelessness, amounting to 74 per cent between 

2009 and 2015. She asked whether the Government had adopted a national action plan to 

address the crisis based on the right to adequate housing, as reflected in the Committee’s 

general comments Nos. 4 and 7. 

84. She noted that progress had been made on the very restrictive legislation applicable 

to termination of pregnancy in Sint Maarten. Given the serious implications of the 

criminalization of abortion for health and reproductive rights, she requested a more specific 

time frame for liberalized legislation that complied with the Committee’s general comment 

No. 22 on sexual and reproductive health. 

85. In January 2012, a decision had been taken to abolish subsidies for interpretation 

services concerning health care for persons who were not fluent in the Dutch language. The 

decision had been criticized by the Royal Dutch Medical Association, particularly in 

relation to its impact on a core element of the right to health, namely obtaining informed 

consent to medical treatment. She asked what justification there was for the measure and 

whether there were plans to restore funding for interpretation services. 

86. The Committee had been informed that unnecessary treatment had been provided for 

intersex children, which denied them self-determination and autonomy. Such treatment was 

based on a “predict and control” approach rather than on the child’s own choice of gender 

identity over time. She asked whether there were any plans to review those policies and 

practices, and whether basic health-care coverage was provided for the transition to a 

chosen gender identity. 

87. She wished to know more about measures to protect residents’ right to health, 

particularly efforts to reduce ambient air pollution and dangerous emissions from oil 

refinement activities in Curaçao. Lastly, she wished to know about the impact on a number 

of economic, social and cultural rights of gas extraction activities in northern parts of the 

Netherlands, particularly the right to housing, health care and compensation for affected 

property.  

The meeting rose at 6 p.m. 


